
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 2 March 2022 
 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Thursday, 10 March 2022 
beginning at 

6:45 pm 
in the 

Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, Eastleigh SO50 9PG 

 
 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Janice Asman 
Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Tim Groves 
 

Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor Steven Broomfield 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Dave Kinloch 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8298; 
Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 Email: 
natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2022. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 

5.   Chair's Report  
 

6.   Update from Task and Finish Groups  
 

7.   Public Transport Operators  
 

8.   Equalities Strategy and Action Plan (Pages 7 - 38) 
 

9.   Complaints Policy (Pages 39 - 58) 
 

10.   Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 59 - 62) 
 

11.   Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme (Pages 63 - 64) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 at 6:45 pm 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Thursday, 10 February 2022  (6:48 pm – 7:59 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Cross, Broadhurst, Duguid, Groves, 
Jurd, Broomfield, Tyson-Payne and Kinloch 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Grajewski 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Asman 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

229. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.  
 

230. MINUTES 
 
Councillor Groves requested that the previous minutes were amended as 
it stated that the Environmental Task and Finish Group met in November, 
however, they met in December.  
 
It was AGREED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 13 January 2022 
be confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

231. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion.  
 

232. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
The Chair had nothing to report to the Committee. 
 

233. UPDATES FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
Councillor Gomer confirmed that the Equalities Task and Finish Group had 
met with the Strategy Development Senior Specialist to discuss Equality. A 
report will be coming to the next Policy and Performance Meeting. 
 
Councillor Groves confirmed that the Environmental Group last met in 
December so there were no further updates. 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

Councillor Duguid confirmed that no formal meeting had taken place, but 
an agenda had been planned for the next meeting which included financial 
stress testing, letting of contracts, eco standard setting and an overview of 
an all member session that will take place. The Group were due to meet 
Monday, but this had now been deferred.  
 

234. CORPORATE ACTION PLAN 2022/23 
 
The Strategic Planning Manager introduced the report. The Chair noted 
that the Green Energy Strategy was not mentioned within the report and 
asked if it could be included.  
 
There was a discussion around the installation of charging points across 
the Borough. The Strategic Planning Manager agreed to respond to 
Councillors via email with an explanation, as it was believed that the target 
was not ambitious.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel commented on the 
attached Corporate Action Plan for 22/23 at Appendix 1. 
 

235. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE 
 
The Corporate Director introduced the report and highlighted that a saving 
of £300,000 was forecast for the year. A discussion took place around Key 
Performance Indicators with a red RAG status, in particular Council Tax 
and Waste. The Corporate Director explained that COVID, staff turnover 
and long-term sickness had an impact on the service areas, however, 
processes were being reviewed and figures were starting to improve.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the 
performance and financial position of the Council for the first three 
quarters of the year. 
 

236. GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 
 
The Corporate Director gave a short presentation outlining the key points 
within the report.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel reviewed the 
General Fund Revenue Budget 2021/2022 – 2026/27. 

4



3 
 

 
237. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. The Chair 
explained that the Green Energy Strategy was going to be discussed at 
the Audit and Resources Committee. All Members will be invited to this 
meeting.  
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

238. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 
Panel members considered their Work Programme. 
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 
 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

THURSDAY, 10 MARCH 2022 

CABINET 

Thursday, 24 March 2022  

EQUALITIES STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 2022-2025 

Report of the Strategy Development Senior Specialist  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel; 

(1) support the recommendation from the Equalities Task and Finish Group to 
endorse the strategy and recommend approval to Cabinet  

It is recommended that Cabinet; 
 

(1) approve the Equality Strategy and Action Plan 2022 – 2025 at Appendix 1. 

 

Summary 
 
The Council has legal duties and a community leadership role in the exercise of its 
functions to address discrimination, promote genuine equal opportunities and foster good 
relations between different communities in Eastleigh Borough. The Strategy and Action 
Plan proposes a plan to improve consideration of equalities in the workforce, services, and 
projects of the Council. 

 

Statutory Powers 
 
Equality Act 2010 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The Council has a general duty under the Equality Act 2010 requiring public 
bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other conduct prohibited by the Act; 

7

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and 

(c) foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it. 
 

2. Under the Equality Act all public sector bodies also have a specific duty to: 
(a) Publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general 

Equality Duty annually. This information must include, information 
relating to people who share a protected characteristic who are:  
(i) its employees, and 
(ii) people affected by its policies and practices. 

 
(b) Prepare and publish, at least every four years, one or more objectives 

that it thinks it needs to achieve to further any of the aims of the 
general Equality Duty.  
 

3. The strategy proposes that there is an agreed approach across all relevant 
Council areas (wider than the Health and Wellbeing theme of the Corporate 
Plan) to ensure the Council is not only fulfilling those duties but addressing 
inequality of opportunity and promoting cohesion. 

4. The strategy sets out how the Council will achieve its vision of diversity and 
equality of opportunity, both as an employer and as a provider of services and 
supports the Council’s corporate priority for health and wellbeing in: 

 Enabling healthier lifestyles/ wellbeing 

 Tackling health inequality and deprivation 
 

Introduction 

5. The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan was agreed by Cabinet in March 
2021 and sets out how the Council will not only fulfil its legal duties under the 
Equality Act 2010, but work towards embedding an inclusive mindset within all 
its services, processes, and culture in order to create an approach that values 
every individual regardless of their background and characteristics.  

6. Originally meant to be a 4 year strategy, it was agreed as a 1 year interim 
strategy to allow for more time to discuss equality implications with groups in 
the community with a protected characteristic, to better understand what some 
of the barriers are to accessing Council services, how this can be improved 
and how the Council can better involve people in equality issues. 

7. The current strategy was very much about increasing awareness, in terms of 
equalities, within the Council and improving processes so that there are 
positive outcomes for all residents.  

8. To achieve this, the strategy outlined 6 objectives to: 
1. Carry out duties under the Equality Act 2010; 
2. Build better links with people with protected characteristics and be 

more responsive; 
3. Recognise and value the diversity of the workforce; 

8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

4. Embed an inclusive mindset across the Council; 
5. Address digital exclusion; and  
6. Develop Strategy and Action Plan 2022/2025. 

 
3. Since the strategy was agreed in March 2021, the Council have implemented 

a number of actions to achieve these objectives, such as: 

 Improved consideration of Equalities in service and project planning 
and for key decisions, including further improvement of Equality Impact 
Assessments (EqIAs) 

 Engaged with key stakeholders and group, representing people with 
protected characteristics to understand barriers to participation and 
access to EBC services. 

 Updated the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment template and 
committee reports to better consider equality implications. 

 Continued the Equality Focus Group (EFG) to ensure that equalities 
are championed across the organisation and actions to embed equality 
are implemented. 

 Continued to ensure that communications are accessible, including 
reviewing how the Council uses translators and interpreters. 

 Revised the Council’s online training offer to cover unconscious bias, 
equality impact assessments and public sector duty. 

 Provided more detailed training for staff with particular roles and 
responsibilities in championing equalities within the Council. 

 Ran equalities training for all Councillors to increase their awareness of 
equalities and the importance of embedding an inclusive mindset. 

 Included equalities considerations in planning processes and 
documentation during the annual planning cycle. 

 Integrated accessibility and other equalities matters into service 
redesign processes and documentation such as Project Initiation 
Documents (PID). 

 Began to consider ways the Council can support Digital Inclusion 
across Eastleigh Borough. 
 

 Provided funding, through the Boroughwide grant, for community 
groups with an emphasis on digital inclusion and improving 
accessibility for people affected by covid. 

 

Engagement and consultation  

9. A consultation was conducted between 15 February and 15 March 2021 and 
promoted via social media, the Spring edition of Borough News and directly to 
certain community groups and individuals known to the Council. It was felt that 
due to engagement only being carried out within the last year it was not 
proportionate to conduct another round of engagement as the review did not 
present as a complete change in direction in terms of the Council’s key aims 
for the strategy. 

10. This year was to review the current strategy and seek more views from groups 
representing people with protected characteristics to understand more 

9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

specifically what some of the barriers are to accessing Council services, how 
this can be improved and how the Council can better involve people in 
equality issues. 

11. Throughout 2021, the Council made efforts to engage with groups and 
organisations representing people with protected characteristics to build better 
relationships. This was done through emails, face-to-face meetings (where 
possible due to restrictions) and Teams meetings. In particular, the Council 
was keen to know: 
(a) What are the barriers in terms of protected characteristics (PC) and the 

Council? Services/ facilities/ equalities issues? 
(b) How can we improve this? 
(c) What are the challenges? 
(d) What works well? 
(e) How does the Council increase its understanding and awareness of 

PC? 
(f) How do we involve people in equality issues? 

 
12. The responses received from these groups have been considered and are 

now reflected where possible within the document. The Equalities Focus 
Group (EFG) is also further considering how the Council address some of the 
issues raised during engagement. 

13. The strategy was also considered by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny 
Panel Task and Finish Group in discussion with the Cabinet Member for 
Health and Wellbeing. The Task and Finish Group have met on 3 occasions 
(20 July 21, 26 October 21, and 3 February 22) and comments from the group 
have been included below.  

Strategy summary and development  

14. The document includes: 

(a) Definitions and more information on what a protected characteristic is. 
(b) An introduction and overview of the Council’s commitment to fulfil its 

legal duty under the Act and how it will work towards embedding an 
inclusive mindset within all its services, processes, and culture. 

(c) Background – the Council’s general duty and the need to have due 
regard to advance equal opportunity.  

(d) List of successes from the previous strategy. 
(e) Strategy – how the Council will use the activities within its control, the 

awareness of staff and Councillors, the need to listen and understand 
community needs, and the way this is framed and conducts debates. 

(f) Objectives - setting out how we will get there, and what success will 
look like. 

(g) Action Plan – list of actions to be implemented and reviewed regularly 
by the EFG. 

(h) Appendix – local data (up-to-date data has been used where possible 
and will be updated once the Census 2021 has been released). 
 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

15. Comments from community groups and the panel have indicated that there 
should be more information on what is meant by a protected characteristic 
which is why the document now includes definitions at the beginning of the 
strategy. These definitions should also be included on the Council’s website to 
increase awareness of the Equality Act 2010. 

16. Earlier discussions have suggested that the strategy should have actions 
which are more specific and measurable. This has been done where possible, 
however it is not always easy to include a measurable KPI for equalities work 
as it can consist of programmes of work which are anecdotal. The strategy 
has highlighted ‘what success will look like’ to demonstrate how the Council 
are achieving actions throughout its implementation. 

17. More prominence is given to actions around ensuring there is guidance and 
information on the Staff Hub (the Council’s internal intranet system) and that 
this is accessible to people who may be visually impaired. 

18. The Council will also update the website to invite groups to be more involved 
in equalities work if they wish and include information of staff they can contact 
to take forward these discussions. 

19. The feedback included an action on the Council’s continued commitment to 
encouraging inclusive recruitment through support of the Disability Confident 
Scheme. 

20. The feedback included an action to review the strategy once the new Census 
2021 data has been published to help inform the Council’s approach. 

21. General definitions and actions have been firmed up, so they are clearer. 

22. Some specific comments were not included in this action plan as they require 
further discussion about how they will be implemented. For instance, the 
Council is considering how best to gather information on customer 
satisfaction. This will highlight additional equalities implications for how 
residents are accessing Council services. 

Financial Implications 

23. The Strategy has no implications above existing service and project budgets. 
Any implications arising from engagement with communities will be subject to 
future approvals. 

Risk Assessment 

24. The Council risks only partially fulfilling its mission of ‘Supporting Communities 
and Improving Lives’ if it does not take an inclusive approach to all of the 
communities it serves. 

25. The Council is at risk of enforcement by the Equalities and Human Rights 
Commission if it does not fulfil its general and specific equalities duties. 

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

26. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as it relates entirely to 
the way the Council meets its duties under the Act and carries out other 
activity to address inequality and have a positive impact on all communities. 

27. Therefore, an Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and is at 
appendix 2. 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

28. There are no climate or environmental implications of this report or the draft 
Strategy and Action Plan. Improved engagement with all the Council’s 
residents will assist in promoting behaviour change and action to reduce 
climate change. 

 

Conclusion 

29. The draft Strategy and Action Plan sets out the Council’s proposed approach 
to addressing equalities duties and inequality of opportunity in respect of 
Council operations. 

ANDREW SAUNDERS 
STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT SENIOR SPECIALIST 

 
Date: 24 February 2022 
Contact Officer: Andrew Saunders  
Tel No:  
e-mail: andrew.saunders@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 Equality Strategy and Action Plan 2022/25 
 2 Equality Impact Assessment  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

12



 

1 
 

  

Equalities 
Strategy and 
Action Plan 
2022-2025 

March 2022 

13



 

2 
 

Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 2022-2025 
 

Foreword 
Tonia Craig, Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing and Social Policy 

I am pleased to introduce Eastleigh Borough Council’s new Equality Strategy and Action Plan for the 

period 2022 – 2025. This strategy builds on the success of the previous strategy which ran from 2021 

– 2022 and sets out how we aim to continue to fulfil our legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 and 

work towards embedding an inclusive mindset across all our services, processes, and culture.  

The last few years have highlighted the inequalities that exist in our society and how the pandemic 

has intensified this, having a devastating impact on jobs, training, and mental health, and how this 

has disproportionately affected our most disadvantaged groups. Through this strategy, we want to 

make equalities more visible and promote diversity and inclusion to ensure people are treated fairly, 

with respect and dignity at all times. 

We are proud that over the last year we have embedded a new Equalities Focus Group who are 

responsible for championing equalities across the organisation, ensuring we are constantly 

expanding our understanding and awareness of equalities. We have improved consideration of 

equalities in service and project planning and for key decisions, including further improvement of 

our Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) and rolled out more training to all councillors and key staff 

to support our vision of diversity and equality of opportunity, both as an employer and as a provider 

of services. 

Whilst we all have our part to play in creating a more just society, Eastleigh Borough Council 

recognises that as a community leader it must do more to tackle systematic inequality; to promote 

diversity and to provide services in such a way that enable all its citizens to participate in civic life 

and have an equal opportunity to flourish.  

This strategy aligns with the Council’s mission of ‘Supporting Communities, Improving Lives’. The 

Council’s values of ‘Fairness, Empowerment and Ambition’ underpin the actions in this Strategy and 

Action Plan and will help to shape the Council’s inclusive culture. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



 

3 
 

Contents 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

Background ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

Building on the success of the previous strategy ............................................................................ 8 

Strategy .................................................................................................................................................. 9 

Objectives ............................................................................................................................................ 10 

Action plan ........................................................................................................................................... 12 

Appendix A – Local data and insight ............................................................................................... 15 

 

 

[Title] 
Version 1 Approved by Cabinet  

Date last 
amended 

21/03/2022 
Approval date 

21/03/2022 

Lead officer Strategy Development Senior Specialist 
(Health and Wellbeing)  

Review date 
31/03/2023 

Contact andrew.saunders@eastleigh.gov.uk Effective date 28/03/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



 

4 
 

Definitions 

 

Protected Characteristics 

The Equality Act 2010 specifies 9 features which, for the advancement of equality 

and opportunity, are afforded protection from discrimination, harassment, and 

victimisation.  In alphabetical order they are Age, Disability, Gender, Gender 

Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 

Religion or Belief, Sexual Orientation. 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council have expanded this to include ‘social deprivation’ 

recognising that this is also a characteristic which often leads to exclusion and 

inequalities. 

 

Age 

Where this is referred to, it refers to a person belonging to a particular age (e.g. 32 

year olds) or range of ages (e.g. 18 - 30 year olds). 

 
Disability 
A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a 
substantial and long-term adverse effect on that person's ability to carry out normal 
day-to-day activities. 
 
Gender reassignment 
The process of transitioning from one gender to another. 
 
Pregnancy and maternity 
Pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a baby. Maternity refers to 
the period after the birth and is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. 
In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks 
after giving birth, and this includes treating a woman unfavourably because she is 
breastfeeding. After 26 weeks, sex discrimination protection applies. 
 
Race 
It refers to a group of people defined by their race, colour, and nationality (including 
citizenship), ethnic or national origins. 
 
Religion or belief 
Religion has the meaning usually given to it, but belief includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (e.g. Atheism). Generally, a belief should 
affect your life choices or the way you live for it to be included in the definition. 
 
Sex 
A man or a woman. 
 
Sexual orientation 
Whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to 
both sexes. 
 

16



 

5 
 

Marriage and civil partnership 
Marriage and Civil Partnership means someone who is legally married or in a civil 
partnership. Marriage can either be between a man and a woman, or between 
partners of the same sex. Civil partnership is between a man and a woman, or of 
partners of the same sex. 
 
Social deprivation 
The extent to which a person, or a community, lacks what they really need to have a 

decent life and good outcomes, such as education, good physical and mental health, 

work, money, housing, safety and services. 

 

Unconscious bias 

Underlying attitudes and stereotypes that people unconsciously attribute to another 

person or group of people that affect how they understand and engage with a person 

or group. 

 

Equality 

Fair treatment of individuals or groups, ensuring they are treated equally and no less 

favourably in areas including those of age, disability, gender, race, religion or belief, 

sexual orientation, gender re assignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 

and maternity. 

 

Diversity 

Acknowledging, valuing and respecting people’s psychological, physical and social 

differences in order that their full potential and contribution can be realised. 

 

 

  

17



 

6 
 

Introduction  
1. Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) is committed to achieving diversity 

and equality of opportunity, both as an employer and as a provider of 
services. This means working to ensure that Eastleigh Borough is free from 
discrimination, but also doing what we can to positively promote equality and 
diversity across the delivery of services, and within our workforce.  

 
2. Inequalities in our society have always been there, however the pandemic has 

starkly exposed how these existing inequalities, and the interconnections 
between them such as race, gender, or geography, are associated with an 
increased risk of becoming ill with a disease such as covid. It is vital to drive 
forward work programmes that reduce inequalities, prevent poor health, and 
improve people’s opportunities. 

3. This Equality Strategy sets out how the Council will not only fulfil its legal 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 but will work towards embedding an 
inclusive mindset within all its services, processes, and culture in order to 
create an approach that values every individual regardless of their 
background and characteristics.  

 
4. This strategy aligns with the Council’s mission of ‘Supporting Communities, 

Improving Lives’. The Council’s values of ‘Fairness, Empowerment and 
Ambition’ underpin the actions in this Strategy and Action Plan and will help to 
shape the Council’s inclusive culture. 

 

Background 
5. The Council has a general duty under the Equality Act 2010 requiring public 

bodies to have due regard to the need to: 
(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 

other conduct prohibited by the Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and people who do not share it; and 
(c) foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and people who do not share it. 
 

6. Having due regard means consciously thinking about the three aims of the 
Equality Duty as part of the process of decision-making and carrying out our 
functions and day to day activities. This means that consideration of equality 
issues must influence how public bodies, like the Council, act as employers; 
how they develop, evaluate and review policy; how they design, deliver and 
evaluate services; how they commission and procure from others, and how 
they work with communities and respond to customers. 
 

7. Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity involves 
considering the need to: 
(a) remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to their 

protected characteristics; 
(b) meet the needs of people with protected characteristics; and 

18



 

7 
 

(c) encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where their participation is low. 
 

8. Fostering good relations involves tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it. 
 

9. Complying with the Equality Duty may involve treating some people differently 
to others and providing a more suitable service as far as this is allowed by 
discrimination law. For example, it may involve making use of an exception or 
the positive action provisions in order to provide a service in a way which is 
appropriate for people who share a protected characteristic – such as 
providing computer training for those older people who need help to access 
information and services. 

 
10. Under the Equality Act all public sector bodies also have a specific duty to: 

(a) Publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general 
Equality Duty annually. This information must include, information 
relating to people who share a protected characteristic who are:  
(i) its employees, and 
(ii) people affected by its policies and practices. 

 
(b) Prepare and publish, at least every four years, one or more objectives 

that it thinks it needs to achieve to further any of the aims of the 
general Equality Duty. The objectives must be specific and 
measurable.  
 

11. The following characteristics are protected in the Equality Act 2010 
(a) age 
(b) disability, including hidden disabilities, autism, learning disabilities, 

mental illness 
(c) gender reassignment 
(d) pregnancy and maternity 
(e) race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality, 

including Gypsy, Romany and Traveller communities 
(f) religion or belief – this includes lack of belief 
(g) sex 
(h) sexual orientation 
(i) marriage and civil partnership (in respect to the need to eliminate 

employment discrimination). 
 

12. The Council recognises that socioeconomic deprivation is also a characteristic 
which often leads to exclusion and inequalities. Socioeconomic factors play a 
large part in determining health and other outcomes.  
 

13. Digital exclusion is not itself a protected characteristic although it has a 
correlation with age, socio-economic deprivation, disability, and race. Given 
the reliance on digital tools during the pandemic, and the trend towards 
accessing public services through digital means, the Council believes that 
reducing digital exclusion is an important part of meeting our equality duty. 

19



 

8 
 

Building on the success of the previous strategy  
14. In March 2021, the Council agreed an interim strategy for one year to allow for 

more time to engage with key groups to build better links with people with 
protected characteristics and seek to increase our engagement with such 
groups on key barriers and challenges so that we are involving the right 
people during planning. 
 

15. During this time, the Council has carried out a number of initiatives in relation 
to equalities, through the last action plan: 

 Improved consideration of Equalities in service and project planning and 
for key decisions, including further improvement of Equality Impact 
Assessments (EqIAs) 

 Engaged with key stakeholders and groups, representing people with 
protected characteristics to understand barriers to participation and access 
to EBC services. 

 Updated our Equality Impact Assessment template and committee reports 
to better consider equality implications. 

 Continued the Equality Focus Group (EFG) to ensure that equalities are 
championed across the organisation and actions to embed equality are 
implemented. 

 Continued to ensure that communications are accessible, including 
reviewing how we use translators and interpreters. 

 Revised our online training offer to cover unconscious bias, equality impact 
assessments and public sector duty. 

 Provided more detailed training for staff with particular roles and 
responsibilities in championing equalities within the Council. 

 Ran equalities training for all councillors to increase their awareness of 
equalities and the importance of embedding an inclusive mindset. 

 Included equalities considerations in planning processes and 
documentation during the annual planning cycle. 

 Integrated accessibility and other equalities matters into service redesign 
processes and documentation such as Project Initiation Documents (PID). 

 Reviewed how the Council use translators and interpreters to ensure this 
process is fit for purpose. 

 Provided funding, through the Boroughwide grant, for community groups 
with an emphasis on digital inclusion and improving accessibility for people 
effected by covid. 

 

16. Eastleigh Borough’s residents have a range of diverse and different 
characteristics. Some of these differences are more apparent than others. 
Many protected characteristics such as disabilities, however, are not always 
visible, which means the level of diversity is not apparent.  
 

17. Some protected characteristics are shared by relatively small numbers of 
people; the Equality Act affords protection to certain groups regardless of their 
size in the population. Further information about outcomes, forms of exclusion 
and how the Council can address them will be gathered and shared with staff 
in the Council to assist in assessing equalities impacts. 

 

20



 

9 
 

Strategy 
18. Factors that create and perpetuate inequalities are complex and no single 

organisation is able, on its own, to eliminate those inequalities. The Council 
carries out a number of functions, where it has the opportunity to address 
inequalities: 

a) As a community leader, representing and serving the local population 

b) In delivering services that benefit some or all residents 

c) In delivering short-term projects  

d) In shaping the places where people live, work, visit and take recreation 

e) In regulating certain activities and enforcing rules to protect people and 

businesses 

f) In the information and data it collects, analyses and shares with 

partners 

g) In communicating with residents, businesses and organisations 

h) In its work in partnerships with other agencies. 

 

19. The approach to achieving equalities objectives in the short and long term is 
therefore to increase awareness within the Council and improve processes so 
that there are positive outcomes for all residents. In some cases, this may 
involve enhancing a service or project, or going the extra mile, in order to 
achieve a truly inclusive benefit for residents. 
 

20. Being responsive to the needs of people with protected characteristics means 
listening to the voices of those people or groups. By achieving this objective, 
we will have a better sense of issues and areas where the Council can focus 
its equalities actions and efforts in the future.  

 
21. Equalities issues are sometimes contentious and complex. The Council will 

promote a supportive environment where it is safe for people to discuss 
equalities issues, in order to help people to learn, understand the issues and 
agree a positive shared way forward.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21



 

10 
 

Objectives 
22. The Council will focus on 5 objectives to achieve its vision of diversity and 

equality of opportunity, both as an employer and as a provider of services.  
 

23. For details, please see the action plan included in this strategy.  
 

1. Carry out duties under the Equality Act 2010 
 

A key objective of this strategy is to ensure that we are meeting our duties under 
the Equality Act 2010. 

How will we get there? 

 Continue to improve consideration of 
equalities issues in service design, 
project planning and for key 
decisions. 

 Ensure EqIAs are considered during 
the planning stages of our projects, 
strategies and policies. 

 Carry out annual reviews of Equality 
Impact Assessments and make 
recommendations for improvement. 

 Publish objectives and provide an 
annual equality review of the 
objectives and action plan. 

What will success look like? 

 Improved quality and consideration 
of equalities implications in EqIAs. 

 More guidance available online and 
reviewed regularly to ensure the 
Council consider equalities 
implications at the beginning of a 
project and not the end. 

 Better EqIAs, produced by staff that 
have the knowledge and support to 
carry out meaningful assessments.  

 An annual review of review actions, 
through the Equalities Focus Group, 
to identify gaps and meet needs. 

 
2. Engage with communities to participate in the determination of priorities 

and decision making 
 

The Council will also undertake further actions to build better links with people with 
protected characteristics and be more responsive to the diversity of needs across 
the Borough. In particular, we want to understand better the different needs of 
people in relation to the services that our Council carries out.  

How will we get there? 

 Continue to build better 
relationships with groups and 
organisations representing people 
with protected characteristics.  

 Build up resources and material to 
help inform EqIAs and the Council’s 
understanding of equalities issues. 

 Use data and evidence to better 
understand Eastleigh residents. 

What will success look like? 

 Engagement with groups on specific 
key issues will inform EqIAs. 

 Regular review of legislation and best 
practice, at least once a year, will 
inform our service planning and 
delivery. 

 Gathering and publication of 
demographic and profile data will 
inform positive initiatives. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

22



 

11 
 

3. Recognise and value the diversity of the workforce 
 

The Council remains committed to being an inclusive and fair employer and will 
take further steps to recognise and value the diversity of its workforce. 

How will we get there? 

 Improve monitoring of applicants and 
staff characteristics (ensuring 
compliance with GDPR). 

 Review existing Equality and Diversity 
policy. 

 Commit to encouraging inclusive and 
accessible recruitment. 

What will success look like? 

 Production of a report annually 
for CLB. 

 Publication of an updated policy. 

 More people with a registered 
disability interviewed. 

 
4. Embed an inclusive mindset across the Council 

 

The longer-term aim of the Council is to embed within its services, processes, and 
culture an inclusive mindset and approach that values every individual, no matter 
their background and characteristics, and enables greater equality. This will help to 
minimise or remove any unintentional institutional bias.  

How will we get there? 

 Equalities Focus Group to continue 
to meet to consider and champion 
equalities issues across the 
Council. 

 Continue to provide up-to-date 
training for staff and Councillors in 
relation to the Equality Act and 
awareness of protected 
characteristics. 

 Ensure there is guidance and 
information on equalities, and this 
is accessible and up-to-date. 

What will success look like? 

 Attendance at the Equalities Focus 
Group by a member of Corporate 
Leadership Board and relevant 
officers responsible for championing 
equalities and implementing the 
action plan. 

 Number of people taking mandatory 
training every year. 

 Equality information on the Council 
website reviewed and updated at 
least annually. 

 

5. Ensure council services are accessible 

 

The Council will ensure that services and how we communicate with the public is 
accessible and inclusive. This also extends to addressing digital exclusion by 
continuing to protect non-digital forms of contact and communication and helping 
residents to use digital technology more where possible.  

How will we get there? 

 Ensure communications are 
accessible and translation and 
interpretation is available when 
needed. 

 Consider ways to address digital 
exclusion. 

 Protect communications and 
customer service channels for 
people who are digitally excluded. 

What will success look like? 

 Data collected by services about 
accessibility to inform equality 
analyses. 

 Raise awareness of existing support 
services for digital exclusion. 

 Services supporting groups that 
have accessibility issues as a result 
of a protected characteristic or 
digital and/ or physical barriers. 

23



 

12 
 

Action plan 
Objective How we get there? What will we do? What will success look like? 

Carry out duties under 
the Equality Act 2010 

Continue to improve 
consideration of equalities 
issues in service design, project 
planning and for key decisions. 

Support and challenge EqIAs 
including equalities 
considerations when planning our 
processes and documentation, 
through the annual planning 
cycle. 

Improved quality and consideration 
of equalities implications in EqIAs. 

Ensure EqIAs are considered 
during the planning stages of our 
projects, strategies and policies. 

Develop and embed more 
guidance on how to complete 
EqIAs and when an EqIA is 
required. 

More guidance available online 
and reviewed regularly to ensure 
the Council consider equalities 
implications at the beginning of a 
project and not the end. 

Carry out annual reviews of 
Equality Impact Assessments 
and make recommendations for 
improvement. 

Equalities Focus Group will 
review EqIAs on an annual basis. 
Publish the strategy on the 
Council website and monitor and 
review actions annually. 

Better EqIAs, produced by staff 
that have the knowledge and 
support to carry out meaningful 
assessments.  

Publish objectives and provide 
an annual equality review of the 
objectives and action plan. 

Support and challenge EqIAs 
including equalities 
considerations when planning our 
processes and documentation, 
through the annual planning 
cycle. 

An annual review of review 
actions, through the Equalities 
Focus Group, to identify gaps and 
meet needs. 

Build better links with 
people with protected 
characteristics and be 
more responsive 

Continue to build better 
relationships with groups and 
organisations representing 
people with protected 
characteristics.  

Ensure we are involving the right 
people at the right time, through 
engagements and consultation. 

Engagement with groups on 
specific key issues will inform 
EqIAs. 

24



 

13 
 

Build up resources and material 
to help inform EqIAs and the 
Council’s understanding of 
Equalities issues. 

Ensure that the Council is up-to-
date with legislation and current 
practices in terms of equalities to 
ensure consistent awareness. 

Regular review of legislation and 
best practice, at least once a year, 
will inform our service planning 
and delivery. 

Use data and evidence to better 
understand Eastleigh residents. 

Use 2021 Census data to update 
the strategy once published. 

Gathering and publication of 
demographic and profile data will 
inform positive initiatives. 

Recognise and value 
the diversity of the 
workforce 

Improve monitoring of applicants 
and staff characteristics 
(ensuring compliance with 
GDPR). 

Produce an annual report for 
Corporate Leadership Board on 
staff and applicant profile to 
measure diversity and 
inclusiveness in recruitment and 
retention. 

Production of a report annually for 
CLB. 

Review existing Equality and 
Diversity policy. 

Clarify separation of Equality 
issues relating to staff and 
residents by ensuring our policy 
is up-to-date. 

Publication of an updated policy. 

Commit to encouraging inclusive 
and accessible recruitment. 

Support the Disability Confident 
scheme. 

More people with a registered 
disability interviewed. 

Embed an inclusive 
mindset across the 
Council 

Equalities Focus Group to 
continue to meet to consider and 
champion equalities issues 
across the Council. 

Hold quarterly meetings to track 
implementation of this Action 
Plan, chaired by member of 
Corporate Leadership Board.  

Attendance at the Equalities Focus 
Group by a member of Corporate 
Leadership Board and relevant 
officers responsible for 
championing equalities and 
implementing the action plan. 

Continue to provide up-to-date 
training for staff and Councillors 
in relation to the Equality Act 
and awareness of protected 
characteristics. 

Ensure all training materials are 
kept up-to-date and made 
available on the staff training 
portal.  

Number of people taking 
mandatory training every year. 

25



 

14 
 

Ensure there is guidance and 
information on equalities, and 
this is accessible and up-to-date. 

Review and update the Council 
equality page on Staff Hub 
ensuring that this accessible to 
people who may be visually 
impaired. 

Equality information on the Council 
website reviewed and updated at 
least annually. 

Ensure council 
services are 
accessible  
 
 

Ensure communications are 
accessible and translation and 
interpretation is available when 
needed. 

Work with finance to track use of 
translations and interpreters 
across services areas to 
understand who uses them the 
most. 

Data collected by services about 
accessibility to inform equality 
analyses. 

Consider ways to address digital 
exclusion. 

Explore opportunities to work with 
partner agencies to address 
digital exclusion. 

Raise awareness of existing 
support services for digital 
exclusion. 

Protect communications and 
customer service channels for 
people who are digitally 
excluded. 

Continue to produce paper format 
communications where 
appropriate and respond by letter 
and phone. 

Services supporting groups that 
have accessibility issues as a 
result of a protected characteristic 
or digital and/ or physical barriers. 

26



 

15 
 

Appendix A – Local data and insight  
 

24. In achieving diversity and equal opportunity, it is important for the Council to 
understand its residents and service users and to what extent this evidence 
highlights a need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; a 
need to foster good relations; or a need to advance equality of opportunity. 
 

25. This section looks at key statistical information to help understand Eastleigh 
residents and whether they share a protected characteristic. Some of the data 
here is from the 2011 Census. The Council have provided up-to-date data 
where possible but will be looking to the next Census to formally update all of 
these statistics.  

 
Age 
 
26. The table below from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) shows a 

breakdown of age ranges in the Borough by 5 year age groups. The largest 
age group is those in the 50 – 54 range with approximately 9455 people make 
up this age group living in the Borough. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



 

16 
 

Disability 
 
27. The table below, from Public Health England, shows the percentage of people 

who have reported having a limiting long term illness or disability. According to 
the data from the 2011 Census, generally the percentage of people who have 
a long term illness or disability is better in Eastleigh compared to the England 
average.  
 

28. However, when broken down by ward, Eastleigh South has the highest 
number of people living with a long term illness or disability at 1688 or 19%. 
This is much higher than the England average  

 

 
Pregnancy and maternity 
 
29. ONS also publishes data about rates of fertility and numbers of live births for 

each Local Authority area. This data is for 2020.  
 

30. In 2020 there were 1351 live births to women living in Eastleigh Borough. 
ONS also calculates a General Fertility Rate (GFR) using the total number of 
live births per 1000 women aged 15 – 44 calculated using population 
estimates. The GFR for Eastleigh (2020) is 54.8. 

 
 
 
 
 

28



 

17 
 

Race 
 
31. The table below illustrates the ethnicity of the resident population in Eastleigh 

Borough. According to the data from the 2011 Census, White: 
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British makes up the largest percentage 
of people in the Borough (91.8%), with White: other white making up the 
second largest percentage (2.3%). 

 
Ethnic Group Number of people Percentage 

White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 114,873 91.8% 

White: Irish 602 0.5% 

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller1 191 0.2% 

White: Other White 2,871 2.3% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black Caribbean 391 0.3% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black African 254 0.2% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Asian 652 0.5% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: Other Mixed 443 0.4% 

Asian/Asian British: Indian 1,954 1.6% 

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani 160 0.1% 

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi 294 0.2% 

Asian/Asian British: Chinese 625 0.5% 

Asian/Asian British: Other Asian 707 0.6% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 430 0.3% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Caribbean 129 0.1% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Other Black 46 0.0% 

Other ethnic group: Arab 201 0.2% 

Other ethnic group: Any other ethnic group 376 0.3% 

 
Religion or belief 
 
32. The below table shows the religion of residents living in Eastleigh Borough. 

According to most the recent data available (2011 Census), Christans make 
up the majority of peoples religious belief with 77,485 or 61.9%. A total of 
35,639 people, or 28.5%, said they had no religion.  

 
Religion   Number of people Percentage 

Christian 77,485 61.9% 

Buddhist 356 0.3% 

Hindu 820 0.7% 

Jewish 92 0.1% 

Muslim 975 0.8% 

Sikh 854 0.7% 

Other religion 498 0.4% 

No religion 35,639 28.5% 

Religion not stated 8,480 6.8% 

 

                                                           
1 ‘Roma’ will be included in the new 2021 Census data, with the already existing ‘Gypsy or Irish Traveller’ ethnicity tick box that first 
appeared in the previous 2011 Census. 

29



 

18 
 

 
Sex 
 
33. According to mid-year estimates from the ONS, there are more females in the 

Borough than males with 69,610 females and 65,910 males. The largest 
group of females are in the 55 – 59 age range (4860) and males are in the 50 
– 54 age range (4685). 

 

 
 
Sexual orientation 
 
34. The 2011 Census did not ask respondents about their sexual orientation and 

therefore the only available data is at a national level. In 2019, the proportion 
of the UK population aged 16 years and over identifying as heterosexual or 
straight decreased from an estimated 94.6% in 2018 to 93.7% in 2019 (an 
estimated 49.9 million). This represents a continuation of the decreasing trend 
since 2015, when 95.2% of the population identified themselves as 
heterosexual or straight. 
 

35. The 2021 Census is the first to ask about sexual orientation and reliable data 
on the proportion of the population that is lesbian, gay, bi-sexual or 
transgender will be updated when this is available. 

 
 
Marriage and civil partnership 
 
36. The table below shows the marital status of the resident population of 

Eastleigh Borough in 2011. According to the data from ONS, there were 
29,294 people who were single, or approximately 29%. Just over half (52.3%) 
of people were married and 12% of people were either separated or divorced. 

30



 

19 
 

A total of 152 people or 0.1% of the resident population was in a registered 
same-sex civil partnership. 

Marital Status  Number of 
people 

Percentage 

Single (never married or never registered a same-sex civil 
partnership) 

29,294 28.9% 

Married 53,063 52.3% 

In a registered same-sex civil partnership 152 0.1% 

Separated (but still legally married or still legally in a same-sex 
civil partnership) 

2,482 2.4% 

Divorced or formerly in a same-sex civil partnership which is now 
legally dissolved 

9,739 9.6% 

Widowed or surviving partner from a same-sex civil partnership 6,752 6.7% 

 
 
Social deprivation 
 
37. The English Indices of Deprivation (ID) are a useful tool for targeting services 

to help tackle deprivation. They provide a means of identifying the most and 
least deprived areas (LSOAs) in England and to compare whether one area is 
more deprived than another. The darker areas in the table below indicated 
areas in Eastleigh which are considered ‘most deprived’. 

38. In Eastleigh, 1.3% equates to 1 neighbourhood. This means, 10 out of 77 
neighbourhoods (or 13% of the population) are more deprived than the 
national average 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

 

Title of EqIA: 
 

Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 2022-2025 

Brief description of the 
Proposal: 

The Council has legal duties and a community leadership role in 
the exercise of its functions to address discrimination, promote 
genuine equal opportunities and foster good relations between 
different communities in Eastleigh Borough. The Strategy and 
Action Plan proposes a plan to improve consideration of 
equalities in the workforce, services, and projects of the Council. 
 
The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan was agreed by Cabinet 
in March 2021 and sets out how the Council will, not only fulfil its 
legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 but work towards 
embedding an inclusive mindset within all its services, 
processes, and culture in order to create an approach that values 
every individual regardless of their background and 
characteristics.  
 
This assessment considers whether there are any equalities 
implications to ensure that any potential adverse impacts are 
addressed and mitigated where possible. 
 

Summary of Impacts 
and Issues: 

Complying with the Equality Duty may involve treating some 
people differently to others and providing a more suitable service 
as far as this is allowed by discrimination law. For example, it 
may involve making use of an exception or the positive action 
provisions in order to provide a service in a way which is 
appropriate for people who share a protected characteristic – 
such as providing computer training for those older people who 
need help to access information and services. 
 
The Council recognises that socioeconomic deprivation is also a 
characteristic which often leads to exclusion and inequalities. 
Socioeconomic factors play a large part in determining health 
and other outcomes.  
 
Digital exclusion is not itself a protected characteristic although it 
has a correlation with age, socio-economic deprivation, disability, 
and race. Given the reliance on digital tools during the pandemic, 
and the trend towards accessing public services through digital 
means, the Council believes that reducing digital exclusion is an 
important part of meeting our equality duty. 
 

Potential Positive 
Impacts: 

In adopting the Equality Strategy and Action Plan, Eastleigh 
Borough Council is ensuring its commitment to addressing 
equalities duties and inequality of opportunity in respect of 
Council operations. 
 
 

33



What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out?  

A consultation was conducted between 15 February and 15 
March 2021 last year and promoted via social media, the Spring 
edition of Borough News and directly to certain community 
groups and individuals known to the Council.  
 
Throughout 2021, the Council made efforts to engage with 
groups and organisations representing people with protected 
characteristics to build better relationships. This was done 
through emails, face-to-face meetings (where possible due to 
restrictions) and Teams meetings. In particular, the Council was 
keen to know: 

 What are the barriers in terms of protected characteristics 
(PC) and the council? Services/ facilities/ equalities 
issues? 

 How can we improve this? 

 What are the challenges? 

 What works well? 

 How does the council increase its understanding and 
awareness of PC? 

 How do we involve people in equality issues? 
 
The strategy was also considered by the Policy and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel Working Group in discussion with the Cabinet 
Member for Social Policy. The Task and Finish Group have met 
on 3 occasions (20 July 21, 26 October 21, and 3 February 22) 
and comments from the group have been included below. 
 

 

Assessment 

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 

2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  

3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 

34



 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with protected characteristics.  

Impact Assessment Details of Impact  Possible Solutions/ Mitigating Factors 

Age: The age of the Borough’s population is similar to the 
national average, there are however slightly  
fewer people aged 18-29 years and slightly more in 
the older age groups. In Eastleigh town area the  
population is younger whilst in Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury there are more people in the older  
age groups. 
 
According to ONS data from 2020, the largest age 
group is those in the 50 – 54 range with 
approximately 9455 people making up this age 
group in the Borough. 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Disability: According to the data from the 2011 Census, 
generally the percentage of people who have a long 
term illness or disability is better in Eastleigh 
compared to the England average.  
 
However, when broken down by ward, Eastleigh 
South has the highest number of people living with 
a long term illness or disability at 1688 or 19%. This 
is much higher than the England average. 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Gender reassignment: The 2011 Census did not include a specific 
question in respects of gender reassignment. 
However, a question on gender identity is to be 
included in the 2021 Census data. 
 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 

35



residents.   

Pregnancy and Maternity: In 2020 there were 1351 live births to women living 
in Eastleigh Borough. ONS also calculates a 
General Fertility Rate (GFR) using the total number 
of live births per 1000 women aged 15 – 44 
calculated using population estimates. The GFR for 
Eastleigh (2020) is 54.8. 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Race: According to the data from the 2011 Census, White: 
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British makes 
up the largest percentage of people in the Borough 
(91.8%), with White: other white making up the 
second largest percentage (2.3%). 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Religion or belief: According to most the recent data available (2011 
Census), Christans make up the majority of peoples 
religious belief in Eastleigh with 77,485 or 61.9%. A 
total of 35,639 people, or 28.5%, said they had no 
religion. 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Sex 
 
 
 
 

According to mid-year estimates from the ONS, in 
2020, there were more females in the Borough than 
males with 69,610 females and 65,910 males. The 
largest group of females are in the 55 – 59 age 
range (4860) and males are in the 50 – 54 age 
range (4685). 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Sexual Orientation: The 2011 Census did not ask respondents about 
their sexual orientation and therefore the only 
available data is at a national level. In 2019, the 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 

36



proportion of the UK population aged 16 years and 
over identifying as heterosexual or straight 
decreased from an estimated 94.6% in 2018 to 
93.7% in 2019 (an estimated 49.9 million). This 
represents a continuation of the decreasing trend 
since 2015, when 95.2% of the population identified 
themselves as heterosexual or straight. 
 
The 2021 Census is the first to ask about sexual 
orientation and reliable data on the proportion of the 
population that is lesbian, gay, bi-sexual or 
transgender will be updated when this is available. 
 

term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Marriage and civil partnership: According to the data from ONS in 2011, there were 
29,294 people who were single, or approximately 
29%. Just over half (52.3%) of people were married 
and 12% of people were either separated or 
divorced. A total of 152 people or 0.1% of the 
resident population was in a registered same-sex 
civil partnership. 
 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

Social deprivation - please highlight what 
impact could there be on people 
experiencing social deprivation: 

The English Indices of Deprivation (ID) are a useful 
tool for targeting services to help tackle deprivation. 
They provide a means of identifying the most and 
least deprived areas (LSOAs) in England and to 
compare whether one area is more deprived than 
another.  

In Eastleigh, 1.3% equates to 1 neighbourhood. 
This means, 10 out of 77 neighbourhoods (or 13% 
of the population) are more deprived than the 
national average. 

The Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 
sets the Councils approach to achieving 
equalities objectives in the short and long 
term, to increase awareness within the 
Council and improve processes so that 
there are positive outcomes for all 
residents.   

37



Other significant Impacts: No identified impact. 
 
 

N/a 

 

Action Plan   

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

    

    

    

 

Lead Officer: Andrew Saunders, Strategy Development Senior Specialist 

Manager: Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning Manager 

Corporate Director: Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director 

Date completed: 17 February 2022 

 

 

38



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 10 March 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 24 March 2022 

CORPORATE COMPLIMENT, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 
POLICY & POLICY FOR DEALING WITH UNREASONABLY 

PERSISTENT COMPLAINANTS AND UNREASONABLE 
COMPLAINANT BEHAVIOUR 

Report of the Executive Head of Customer Care 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel: 
 
(1) review and comment upon the revised and updated Compliment, Comment 

and Complaints Policy and Procedure ahead of Cabinet approval; and 

(2) review and Comment on the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants & 
Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy ahead of Cabinet approval 

For Cabinet: 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(3) approve the revised and updated Corporate Compliment, Comment and 
Complaints Policy; and 

(4) approve the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable 
Complainant Behaviour Policy 

 

Summary 
 
The Council has a Corporate Compliment, Comments and Complaints Policy which 
outlines how we will deal with customer complaints and a separate policy for dealing with 
Unreasonably Persistent Complainants & Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour. Both 
policies have been reviewed and updated to include all methods of contact, clearer 
guidance on how the Council aims to deal with complainants in ways which are consistent 
and fair, the timescales for responding to complaints and clearer links to other sources of 
information.   

39

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Focus for Scrutiny 

To consider the Corporate Compliment, Comments and Complaints policy and the Policy 
for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints & Unreasonable Complainant 
Behaviour ahead of Cabinet approval. 

 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government Act 1972,   
Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
Human Rights Act 1998  
Equality Act 2010  
Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and Data 
Protection Act 2018 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The way the Council serves and responds to Customers, including how they 
are treated when giving compliments or making comments or complaints is a 
key determinant of reputation and trust. 

2. Eastleigh Borough Council’s complaints policies set out the way in which 
customer complaints and other feedback will be treated and information used.  
The policies reflect our aim to engage with customers to continually improve 
our services, dealing with complaints consistently and fairly. 

3. The management of complaints should never be simply a back-office function 
but one that puts customer concerns and feedback at the heart of what we do 
and ensures that this is used to learn and improve. 

4. Monitoring significant changes in levels of complaints for a service is one 
important indicator of service satisfaction levels and is something the Council 
monitors to ensure high levels of customer service.  Monitoring complaints 
enables the Council to investigate possible areas of poor performance and 
take appropriate remedial action. 

Introduction 

5. Effective complaints handling should be used to seek continuous 
improvement, be open and accountable and to enable Council services to 
make amends when things go wrong.   

6. It is important that the Council’s policy for dealing with complaints and 
customer feedback is straightforward, accessible and clear and that it assists 
customers when choosing the best way to do this.  Supporting procedures 
should effectively identify and process a complaint, no matter how it is raised. 

40



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
Corporate Complaints Policy (Appendix 1) 

7. The current procedure for dealing with complaints is published on the 
Council’s website and was updated in February 2019.  However, whilst this 
outlines the process and provides some information relating to matters 
considered or not considered under the procedure, no overarching policy 
providing a framework currently exists.  Therefore, this has been reviewed by 
the Executive Head of Customer Care in conjunction with the Executive Head 
of Governance.  Revisions include: 

 A clear policy which sets out the aims and objectives  

 Clearer information on which matters fall under the policy and what the 
policy does not cover. (The website will have clear links to more 
appropriate procedures for customers to follow) 

 Information regarding anonymous complaints 

 Clearer information regarding timescales for responding to complaints 

 Inclusion of a time limit of 6 months of the disputed occurrence or 
incident within which complaints should be made 

 Clarification of referral to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman upon completion of an investigation into a complaint, 
once a final decision has been reached, which could be at either Level 
1 or 2 of this policy. 

 Clearer link to our Equalities Policy, inclusion under this policy of 
equality issues causing unfairness, choice to have a representative act 
on a customer’s behalf 

 Examples of how the Council may look to put things right 

 Clearer link to the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants & 
Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy 

 Clearer information regarding the retention of documents and link to the 
Council’s Privacy Policy. 

Unreasonably Persistent Complainants & Unreasonable 
Complainant Behaviour Policy (Appendix 2) 
 

8. The Council will make every effort to deal with its complainants consistently 
and fairly, however there are certain situations where the behaviour of a 
complainant is unreasonably persistent or unreasonable. The Policy aims to 
ensure that staff are assisted when dealing with complainants who exhibit 
unreasonable behaviour.   
 

41



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

9. The Policy assists the Council in ensuring that all complainants/customers 
receive a proportional amount of staff time and certain individuals do not take 
up disproportionate amounts of time, to the extent that it inhibits a service to 
others.   
 

10. Certain complainants may be abusive, offensive and/or threatening and the 
Council will not tolerate this type of behaviour. In addition, such complainants 
can cause undue stress to staff which has a detrimental impact on the 
Council’s workforce. 

 
11. The Policy was last reviewed in January 2017 and is currently published on 

the Council’s website: https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-
complaints-procedure   
 

12. It has been reviewed and updated by the Executive Head of Governance, 
Executive Head of Customer Care and Head of Case Management (Service 
Delivery). Revisions include:  

 Additional examples of unreasonable complainant behaviour;  
 Update to the term ‘contact’ which now includes any channel or method 

of contact and is not limited to face to face contact and via the 
telephone;  

 Clarity around what action can be taken for managing a complainant’s 
involvement with the Council.   

 
13. A Policy also helps staff to understand clearly what is expected of them, what 

options for action are available, and who can authorise these actions. In the 
absence of such guidance the Council is likely to have greater problems with 
unreasonable and unreasonably persistent complainants. In addition, it 
provides a measure against which performance can be assessed for 
monitoring purposes.  
 

14. It is worth noting that there is a difference between 'persistent' complainants 
and 'unreasonably persistent' complainants and the Council needs to 
remember that anyone who is aggrieved may be persistent, but some people 
will pursue the matter in an inappropriate way.  
 

15. The decision to designate someone as unreasonably persistent can only be 
made by a member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable for the 
service area, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and any other 
Councillors considered appropriate (or, in relation to vexatious and repeated 
requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 or Subject Access Requests 
under  the Data Protection Act 2018 by the Legal Services Manager in liaison 
with a member of Executive Leadership Team accountable for the service 
area, who will be guided by the Information Commissioner’s Office).  
 

  

42

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Next Steps 

16. Ongoing work to the website will ensure these policies and supporting 
information can be found in one place and will utilise hyperlinks to allow easier 
access to more detailed information and signpost customers to the correct 
policy/procedure. 

17. Information will also include alternative ways to raise a complaint other than 
via a My Eastleigh account; whilst we encourage use of online methods of 
feedback, we also include alternatives for those customers less digitally 
enabled. 

18. Work will also focus on improving management information and reporting, 
providing service managers with improved performance information. 

19. A process for monitoring and reviewing complaints and feedback received to 
inform service improvements will also be designed. 

Financial Implications 

23.  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Risk Assessment 

24.  The complaints process can be used as a barometer and early warning of 
problems that may be unseen.  Furthermore, failure to use critical feedback to 
drive a culture of learning, reflection and improvement could result in poor 
customer service and unnecessary cost. 

25.  By not having clear policies on how staff should deal with compliments, 
comments and complaints and unreasonably persistent complainants or 
unreasonable complainant behaviour, there is a risk that this behaviour can 
have a detrimental impact on staff who the Council have a duty to protect. 
Furthermore, publication of the Policies provides clear expectation on 
ensuring complaints and complainants are dealt with in a way that is 
consistent and fair.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 26.  The process is accessible to all residents and will be dealt with according to 
policy. The Policies recognise the rights of complainants under the Human 
Rights Act 1998 and the Equality Act 2010.   

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

27.  There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or the 
complaints process itself.  
 

43



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Conclusion 

28.  This report summarises the changes to the Council’s Compliment, Comments 
and Complaints Procedure and Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and 
Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy, which as a result of an internal 
review are now more closely aligned to provide a more efficient and simpler 
process for customers to follow.  The views of the Panel are sought on the two 
policy documents. 

29.  Following scrutiny by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel, it is 
recommended that Cabinet consider any recommendations from the Panel 
and approve the Policies in Appendix 1 and 2.   

LOUISE O’DRISCOLL 
EXECUTIVE HEAD OF CUSTOMER CARE  

 
Date: 08 February 2022 
Contact Officer: Louise O’Driscoll 
Tel No:  
e-mail: Louise.ODriscoll@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 2 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* None. 
 

44



1  

 

 
 

CUSTOMER CARE 

COMPLIMENT, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS POLICY 
 

Introduction and Aims 

1 Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity and 
access to its services and aims to provide the best service we can.  

2 This policy and our procedures aim to ensure fair, proportionate resolution at 
the earliest stage, be easy to use, be understandable and easily followed.  
They are designed to be used when customers want to let us know when we 
are doing well, to make a suggestion or comment or raise a formal complaint 
where they feel there has been some form of persistent service failure which 
they believe is the Council’s fault.  

3 We aim to provide the best possible service and feedback from customers 
helps us to learn and improve. We appreciate customer comments, 
compliments and complaints regarding our services and staff and we will use 
the information gained to improve the quality of service we provide. 

4 We recognise that sometimes things can go wrong and if they do, we would 
like to know so that we can try to put them right.  We will deal with all 
complaints fairly and impartially.   

5 We aim to provide high quality services at all times. Feedback from our 
customers is important in helping us maintain and, if needed, improve the 
standards of services we provide. We welcome customers comments on their 
experiences, telling us where we have done well or making suggestions about 
the services they would like to receive. 

 

Definition of a Complaint 

6 A complaint is: ‘an expression of dissatisfaction about a Council service 
(whether that service is provided directly by the Council or by a contractor or 
partner) that requires a response.’ 

7 You can make a complaint if you’re not satisfied with our service or: 

 You feel you have not been treated with courtesy or fairness  

 You are unhappy about the standard of service you have received  

 You feel we have failed to provide a service to which you are entitled  

 You are unhappy about the action taken by us. 

 

 

 

45



2  

 What this Policy does Cover 

 
8 This policy and our procedures will cover any form of service dissatisfaction or 

maladministration if you consider we have failed: 

 To provide information/correct information 

 To follow procedures 

 In our standard of work 

 To deliver without unnecessary or unreasonable delays 

 To adhere to our rules and regulations 

 To treat you fairly and promptly 

 In the behaviour of our staff 

 In other matters, such as equality issues causing unfairness, barriers or 
accessibility to services 

 
What this Policy does not Cover 

9 The following concerns/issues cannot be dealt with under our complaints 
procedure: 

 Anonymous complaints 

 Matters for making a claim against, or seeking compensation from the Council 

 Matters that fall outside of the control of the Council 

 Complaints where the subject matter has previously been investigated under 
this policy or previous policy prior to this one 

 Any matter being investigated or having been investigated by the Local 
Government Ombudsman 

 Where a court has made, is making or about to make a determination on the 
specifics of a complaint  

 Matters that are subject to litigation and/or have already been before a 
court/tribunal 

 Matters for which statutory appeal bodies or tribunals have been established – 
e.g. parking fines, licencing, housing benefit and council tax. 

 If you have received a penalty Charge Notice (PCN)  

 Drain and flooding issues  

 Reports of traffic lights, congestion and road/potholes and highway 
maintenance  

 Website issues  

 Whistleblowing  
 

10 There are some situations where a more appropriate procedure must be used 
instead of our complaints procedure.  Some examples of these are:  

 Cases where the Council has taken a decision in a proper manner, or for an 
explanation of a decision 

 Issues with waste collections and missed bins (please wait until the next 
working day to report a missed bin) 

 Comments on planning applications  

 To report a noise nuisance  

 Grass cutting/hedge maintenance/leaf clearance concerns (link to appropriate 
page/contact) 

 For Universal Credit advice  

 Setting up a Direct Debit for Council Tax payments  

 Non-payment of Council Tax  

 Dissatisfaction with politically determined policy such as charges applied to 

46



3  

services or our waste and recycling policy – please contact your local 
Councillor to raise your concerns. 

 Complaints relating to the conduct of Borough, Parish or Town Councillors – 
these follow the Members’ Code of Conduct  Breach of the Code of Conduct 
form. FOI/EIR Requests  

 Data Protection concerns  

 Safeguarding procedures  
 

 Anonymous Complaints 
 

11 We are unable to deal with anonymous complaints, however complaints relating 
to vulnerable groups such as children, the elderly and people with learning 
disabilities or mental ill health will be considered and investigated if there are 
safeguarding issues. 

 
  Who can complain? 
 

 Residents 

 Anyone visiting or working in the Borough 

 Anyone acting on behalf of an individual or group of individuals, provide they 
have written consent to do so, including MPs, Councillors, Advice Agencies 
and other advocacy groups 

 

Making a Complaint 

12 Our procedure has two Levels.  

 Level One – Level One will be investigated by the Service Manager or 
staff member from the area responsible for the service that was provided 
and they will respond directly to the person who raised the complaint.   

 Level Two – We will endeavour to resolve your complaint at Level One, 
however if you remain dissatisfied with the response received at Level One 
or the resolution proposed you may request that your complaint is 
escalated to Level Two.  Complaints escalated to this level will be reviewed 
by an independent Senior Manager.  

 
13 We will investigate all complaints robustly and consider our findings properly.   
 

If you are not satisfied with our explanation or suggested resolution, you may 

contact the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman, (LGO).  The 

Ombudsman will usually expect you to have taken your complaint through both 
levels of our procedure before you contact them, however, in accordance with 
the LGO guidance, for complaints that do not fall under a statutory process, we 
may inform you at Level One of this procedure if we feel we have reached our 
final decision, in which case we will direct you to the Local Government & Social 
Care Ombudsman in our response to you.   

 Timescales 

14 A complaint made under this policy must be raised within 6 months of the issue 
or incident for which you feel dissatisfied having occurred.  Complaints received 

47

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/councillors-meetings-and-decision-making/our-constitution/code-of-conduct-for-members
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://www.lgo.org.uk/


4  

that are older than 6 months will need to be accompanied with an explanation 
regarding why it was not possible for the complaint to be raised within this 
timescale and any decision whether to investigate this will be at the Council’s 
discretion. 

15 We will aim to acknowledge a complaint within 3 working days of receiving it. 

16 We will aim to respond to complaints within 15 working days after 
acknowledgement; a total of 18 working days from the date received. 
 

17 Some issues may take longer to investigate. If this is the case, we will keep 
you informed of any delays that may occur and may require an extension of 
timescale. 

 
18 Some complaints may require another procedure to be started or be part of a 

process that has already started, and it may not be possible to provide a full 
response until that process has been concluded. If this is the case, we will advise 
you of this and keep you informed where we can of the outcome. 

 

Completed Complaints 

19 Where the complaint has gone through the Councils corporate complaints 
procedure and is closed, we will not enter into further correspondence about the 
complaint, and any further correspondence on the same subject will be read and 
placed on file but will receive no acknowledgement or response. 

 
Equalities 

 
20 We are committed to positively promoting equality of opportunity and have due 

regard to our duties under the Equality Act 2010.  We seek to do this via our 
Equalities Policy and Action Plan. 

 
21 You can make a comment, compliment or complaint: 

 On-line via your MyEastleigh account 

 By Email (customerservicecentre.gov.uk) 

 By letter 

 By telephone 

 In person 
 

22 If you wish to have a representative acting on your behalf, we will need 
confirmation from you that you are happy for us to contact and liaise with them 
directly to ensure we are acting in your best interests. 

 

 
  

48



5  

Putting things right 
 

23 We will endeavour to deal with any concerns fairly, fully and in a timely manner. 
We will look to acknowledge our mistakes and apologise for them where we are 
at fault, and we will explain why things went wrong and what we will do to prevent 
the same issue recurring in future.   
 

24 Examples of ways in which we can resolve an issue are: 
 

 Apologise 

 Take the action that should have been taken before you had cause to 
complain 

 Reconsider a decision that was not taken properly (excluding matters being 
considered under a process other than this one) 

 Improve our procedures to prevent recurrence 

 Re-pay money owed if applicable 
 

25 In a small number of cases customers sometimes pursue their cases in a way 
that can impede the investigation of their complaint and their behaviour can 
become unacceptable, for example, abusive, offensive or threatening.  This 
behaviour inhibits our staffs’ ability to do their work and provide services to 
others.  In these cases, we may decide to take action to restrict the contact that 
person has with the Council.  Any such action will be taken in compliance with 
the Council’s Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable 
Complainants Behaviour Policy.   

 
  Retention of Documents  

 
26 We keep all information confidential, particularly names and addresses that can 

identify a complainant, site or complaint.  However, we may be obliged to 
disclose some information under certain statutory provisions.  Please view our 
Privacy Policy for more information. 

 

  

49

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas


This page is intentionally left blank



1  

 

 
 

POLICY FOR DEALING WITH 
UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINANTS AND 

UNREASONABLE COMPLAINANT BEHAVIOUR 

Introduction 

1 Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to dealing with all complaints fairly and 
impartially and to providing a high-quality service. Having a policy on unreasonably 
persistent complainants and unreasonable complainant behaviour helps the 
Council to deal with complainants in ways which are consistent and fair. 

2 The majority of complaints are dealt with through the complaints procedures 
without difficulty and the Compliment, Comments and Complaints Policy will 
therefore apply to most complaints received by Eastleigh Borough Council.  

 

Definitions 

3 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman has defined ‘unreasonable’ 
and ‘unreasonably persistent’ complainants as those who, because of the 
frequency or nature of their contacts with the local authority, hinder the Authority’s 
consideration of their, or other people’s, complaints. The term ‘contacts’ refers to 
any channel or method of contact and is not limited to contact via the complaints 
process.  

4 It should be noted that almost all complainants see themselves as pursuing 
justified complaints. 

5 Unreasonably persistent complainants may have legitimate complaints but be 
pursuing them in inappropriate ways, or they may be intent on pursuing complaints 
which appear to have no substance, or which have already been investigated and 
determined. Their contacts with Eastleigh Borough Council may be very 
emotionally charged and distressing for all involved, or they may be agreeable but 
still place very heavy demands on staff time. 

6 Sometimes the situation between Eastleigh Borough Council and a complainant 
can escalate and the behaviour moves to that which is unacceptable and 
unreasonable, for example, abusive, offensive or threatening behaviour. Such 
complainants are in a very small minority, but sometimes Eastleigh Borough 
Council finds itself in the position of having to instigate action under this policy. 

7 In extreme situations, the Council may resort to involving the Police or taking legal 
action to address such behaviour. 

8 Raising legitimate queries or criticisms of a complaints procedure as it progresses, 
for example if agreed timescales are not met, should not in itself lead to someone 
being regarded as an unreasonably persistent complainant. 

9 Similarly, the fact that a complainant is unhappy with the outcome of a complaint 
and seeks to challenge it once, or more than once, should not necessarily cause 

51



2  

them to be considered unreasonably persistent /vexatious. 
 

10 Unreasonable complainant behaviour can come about when the situation between 
the Council and a customer escalates and the customer’s behaviour becomes 
unacceptable (e.g., abusive, offensive, or threatening). Examples of unreasonable 
complainant behaviour include: 

 

 Refusing to specify the grounds of the complaint, despite offers of assistance  

 Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope or remit of the 
complaints procedure. 

 Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible 
with the adopted complaints procedure or within good practice. 

 Refusal by the complainant to cooperate with the complaints process, yet still 
wanting their complaint to be resolved. 

 Introduction of new, trivial or irrelevant information at a late stage and 
expecting it to be taken into account and commented on or raising large 
numbers of detailed but unimportant questions and insisting they are all fully 
answered. 

 Covertly recording meetings and conversations. 

 Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others. 

 Adoption of a ‘scattergun’ approach – pursuing a complaint with one team 
and, at the same time, with other teams within the Council and/or with other 
parties, e.g., the MP, a Councillor, the Police, solicitors, or the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

 Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff whilst the 
complaint is being investigated – e.g., excessive telephoning or sending e-mails 
to numerous Council staff, writing lengthy complex letters every few days and 
expecting immediate responses. 

 Submission of repeat complaints – after the complaints process has been 
completed – essentially about the same issue but with minor additions/ 
variations which the complainant insists make these ‘new’ complaints which 
they want to be put through the full complaints procedure. 

 Submission of the same complaint previously investigated and completed, 
essentially about the same issue but with minor additions/variations by a third 
party on behalf of the original complainant. 

 Refusal to accept the decision reached on the complaint – repeatedly 
arguing the point and complaining about the decision, with no new evidence. 

 Making apparently groundless complaints about staff dealing with the 
complaint including seeking to have those staff removed/replaced. 

 Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or 
denying statements they made at an earlier stage. 

 Inappropriate behaviour towards Council staff investigating or involved in 
the complaint such as inappropriate use of language, aggression or 
violence. 

 Combinations of some or all of the above. 
 

This list is not exhaustive and unreasonably persistent complainant behaviour is not 
limited to one (or a combination of any) of the above. 

 

Aim 

11 The aim of the policy for dealing with unreasonably persistent complainants and 
unreasonable complainant behaviour, is to deal fairly and honestly with the 

52



3  

complainant whilst ensuring that other service users and Council staff do not suffer 
any detriment from people making repeated and persistent, unreasonable 
complaints – whilst recognising the rights of complainants under the Human Rights 
Act 1998. 

12 The objectives of the policy are to: 

 Ensure all staff understand the objectives and requirements of the Unreasonably 
Persistent Complainants and Complainant Behaviour Policy. 

 Promote problem solving and to avoid apportioning blame. The emphasis should 
be on finding a solution. 

 Satisfy those who complain or comment that they have been dealt with promptly, 
fairly, openly and honestly. 

 Resolve complaints quickly and as close to the point of service delivery as 
acceptable and appropriate. 

 Protect staff from abusive and unacceptable behaviour from customers. 

Dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complainants 
 

Prior to applying restrictions 
 

13 Before a decision is made on whether to apply this policy, the complainant should be 
given a warning in writing by the Service Manager (or member of Executive 
Leadership Team) to explain why they find their behaviour is unreasonable 
/unacceptable, ask them to change the behaviour and that if their actions continue, 
the Council may decide to treat them as an unreasonably persistent complainant.  

 

Assessing whether the action is proportionate and necessary 

14 Consideration of the following points, together with any other relevant information, 
will be necessary to assess whether the proposed action is proportionate and 
necessary: 

 

 Is the complaint being investigated properly and in accordance with the 
Council’s policy for investigating complaints? 

 Is there another, more specific, path for the complainant to follow (e.g., an 
appeal process if they are complaining about, say, a planning decision or a 
benefits decision)? 

 Are the correct timescales being adhered to? 

 Has the complainant been advised of any delays that may have occurred? 

 Are the considerations/decisions reached as part of the investigation  
being reached correctly? 

 Have communications with the complainant been adequate, clear and 
coordinated? 

 Has consideration been given to the possibility of issues such as poor 
mental health or mental illness, learning disabilities, or personality 
disorders?  

 Is the complainant now providing any significant new information that might 
affect the Council’s view on their complaint? 

 

 

 

 

 

53



4  

Assessing whether further action is necessary before designating the 
complainant ‘unreasonably persistent’ 

 

15 If satisfied on these points, consideration should be given as to whether further 
action is necessary prior to making the decision to designate the complainant as 
unreasonably persistent, for example: 

 

 Have any meetings taken place between the complainant and an investigating, 
or senior, officer? If not (unless there is a known risk about such a meeting), 
would this be likely to help the situation? (The complainant may be 
accompanied by an advocate, if they wish, if it is considered that a meeting may 
help the situation). 

 Is more than one team being contacted by an unreasonably persistent 
complainant?  If so, consideration could be given to setting up a strategy 
meeting to agree a cross-team approach and the designation of a key officer 
to coordinate the Council’s response. 

 
 

Options for action 
 

16 The precise nature of the action the Council decides to take should be 
appropriate and proportionate to the nature and frequency of the complainant’s 
contacts with the Council at that time. 

 

17 The following is a list of some possible actions for managing a complainant’s 
involvement with the Council. (The list is not exhaustive and local case-by-
case factors may be relevant in deciding appropriate action): 

 

 Placing time limits on telephone conversations and personal contacts. 

 Restricting the number of telephone calls that will be taken (e.g., one call 
on one specified day of any week). 

 Limiting the complainant to one contact medium (e.g., telephone, letter, e-
mail) and/or requiring the complainant to communicate with one named 
member of staff. 

 Requiring personal contacts to take place in the presence of a witness. 

 Refusing to register/process further complaints about the same matter. 

 Other action may be taken, for example reporting the matter to the police 
or taking legal action. Where such action is necessary the Council may 
not give warning. 

 Only meet the complainant at Council Offices and by appointment only. 
 

18 Where following restriction of access being implemented, a complainant continues to 
behave in a way that is unacceptable the Council may: 

 Terminate contact through the various mechanisms of contacting the Council . 
 Temporarily or permanently restrict/not allow access to Eastleigh Borough 

Council offices. 
 Report the matter to the police. 
 Take legal action. 

 

 

54



5  

Dealing with Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour 

19 The Council has a duty to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its staff and it 
does not expect staff to tolerate language or behaviour by complainants which is 
abusive, offensive, or threatening. Contact can include but is not limited to: 

 Face to face 

 Telephone 

 Email/correspondence 

 Online/social Media 
 

20 Examples of aggressive and unreasonable behaviour can include: 
 

 Shouting and making unreasonable demands. 

 Making threats to members of staff who are trying to help. 

 Using abusive and upsetting language to members of staff. 

 Refusing to leave Council premises until the problem is resolved. 
 Their continued presence causes disruption/distress to others. 

 

21 During an interaction, if staff consider that the customer is becoming aggressive 
and/or offensive, they will inform the customer that they will terminate the interaction 
unless such behaviour ceases. If the aggression continues, the member of staff will 
terminate the interaction and a note will be placed on file explaining why. 

 

22 Unreasonable or repeated behaviour of this nature could constitute harassment 
which should, after consultation with a senior officer and the Legal Services 
Manager, be reported to the Police. 

 
23 Difficult situations such as these can sometimes be resolved by being patient, 

remaining calm, listening and identifying the exact nature of the problem. The 
health and wellbeing of staff is paramount, and consideration should be given to 
the safe systems of work.  

 

24 Where the behaviour is so extreme that it threatens the immediate safety and 
welfare of the Council’s staff, other options will be considered – e.g., reporting the 
matter to the Police or taking legal action.  In such cases, the complainant may not 
be given warning of that action. 

 

Application of the Policy 

25 The decision to designate someone as unreasonably persistent can only be made 
by a member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable for the Service Area, 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and any other Councillors considered 
appropriate (or, in relation to vexatious and repeated requests for information under 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information Regulations 2004 
or the Data Protection Act 2018, by the Legal Services Manager in liaison with a 
member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable for the Service Area, who 
will be guided by the Information Commissioner’s Office). 

26 If the decision is made to apply the policy and designate the complainant as a 
persistent complainant and/or complainant behaving unreasonably, the relevant 
Head of Service/Service Manager (or member of Executive Leadership Team) will 
write to the complainant to: 

 

 Inform them that the decision has been taken to invoke the policy and outline the 

55



6  

reasons why. 

 Explain the restrictions which will be applied and what it means for their 
contact(s) with the Council. 

 Explain how long any restrictions will last. 

 Explain what the complainant can do to have the decision reviewed. 

 Enclose a copy of this policy with the letter. 
 

Records 

27 Adequate records must be kept when this policy is applied. The information should 
be treated as confidential and only shared with those who may be affected by the 
decision. The records will be maintained by Customer Care in line with the Council’s 
Retention Schedule and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR):  

 

 When a decision is taken to apply (or not to apply) the policy following a 
request to do so by a member of staff. 

 The decision taken and by whom; including details of the assessment made 
and why it is proportionate. 

 The restrictions applied, the timescale and review dates. 

 When a decision is taken to make an exception to the policy after it has been 
applied (if, say, extenuating circumstances subsequently come to light). 

 When a decision is taken (and the reason) not to put a further complaint from 
the same complainant through the complaints procedure. 

 When a decision is taken not to respond to further correspondence (having 
made sure that any further letters, e-mails, etc., from the complainant do not 
have any significant new information). 

 

Future Complaints by the Same Complainant 

28 When/if the complainant makes a complaint about a new issue, this should be 
treated on its merits and a decision will need to be taken by the Service Manager 
in consultation with their Executive Head on whether any restrictions which have 
been applied before, are still appropriate/necessary. It is recognised that any new 
complaint may represent a genuine service failure and therefore needs to be 
reviewed objectively regardless of who is bringing the complaint. 

29 Once the complaint has been considered, a risk assessment will also be carried 
out by the Service Manager in consultation with their Executive Head based on 
past and current knowledge of the complainant’s behaviour and the likelihood of 
re-occurrence of any unacceptable behaviour. 

30 Any decision not to pursue a new complaint must be clearly recorded within the 
complaint record and retained in line with the Council’s Retention Schedule and 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).  

 

Reviews of Decisions 

31 Reviews of decisions to restrict a complainant’s contacts, or the Council’s 
responses to those contacts, should be carried out annually by the Service 
Manager in liaison with a member of the Executive Leadership Team accountable 
for the service area and a record of this review will be retained. 

32 If no further contact has been received from the complainant over a period of 12 

56



7  

months, consideration should be given to whether it would be reasonable to 
cancel the restrictions. (However, urgent assessment will be necessary to re-
introduce them if behaviour which led to the original decision recommences.). The 
outcome of this review should be recorded in the records held by Customer Care.  

33 After review, the Service Manager will notify the complainant, in writing, the 
outcome. If restrictions are not cancelled, an explanation of the reason(s) why will 
be provided to the complainant. 

  

Referral to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

34 In some cases, relations between the Council and the complainant can break down 
and there is little prospect of achieving a satisfactory outcome.  In such 
circumstances there is often little point in working through all stages of the Council’s 
complaints procedure. Where this occurs, the Ombudsman may be prepared to 
consider a complaint before the Council’s complaints procedure has been 
exhausted. 

 

35 A complainant who has been designated ‘unreasonably persistent’ or using 
‘unreasonable complainant behaviour’, may make a complaint to the 
Ombudsman about the way in they have been treated. 

 

36 The Ombudsman is unlikely to be critical of the Council’s action if it can be 
shown that the Council’s policy has been operated properly and fairly. 

 
Responsibility for the Procedures 

 
37 Overall responsibility for the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and 

Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour Policy will lie with the Monitoring Officer under 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
38 The Customer Care Team will take responsibility for the application of all aspects of 

the procedures at service and organisational level (other than complaints relating 
specifically to requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the Data Protection Act 2018 which 
will be the responsibility of the Legal Services Manager). The Service’s Executive 
Head will act as overall coordinator for unreasonably persistent complaints and 
unreasonable complainant behaviour handling in their service areas. 

Dated: January 2017 

Reviewed:  June 2021 and February 2022 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN: February 2022 to March 2022 

 
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken. 
 
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to: 
 
(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 

larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 

Borough of Eastleigh. 
 
The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework. 
 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

24 March 2022 
 

Yes 

 
Equalities Strategy and Action 
Plan 2022-2025  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

The Council has legal duties 
and a community leadership 
role in the exercise of its 
functions to address 
discrimination, promote 
genuine equal opportunities 
and foster good relations 
between different 
communities in Eastleigh 
Borough. The Strategy and 
Action Plan proposes a plan 
to improve consideration of 
equalities in the workforce, 
services and projects of the 
Council. 

Andrew 
Saunders, 
Strategy 
Development 
Senior Specialist 
/  
 

59

A
genda Item

 10



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

2 

Yes 

 
Freeport Full Business Case  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

The Freeport site has 
progressed to submitting the 
Full Business Case to 
Government for approval 
and creation of the Freeport 
Tax Sites. This report details 
key aspects of the business 
case and the Council’s 
obligations from it. 

Andy Smith, 
Executive Head 
of Finance and 
Housing 
Programme 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer), 
Andy Grandfield, 
Executive Head 
of Planning and 
Economy /  
 

Yes 

 
Tree Strategy  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

The Strategy outlines the 
Council’s current activities 
relating to trees, provides a 
framework to underpin these 
activities and sets the 
Council’s key principles in 
relation to trees.  

Mike Culver, 
Strategy 
Development 
Senior Specialist 
/  
 

Yes 

 
ELAC Allotment Transfers  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

Report detailing the statutory 
and non-statutory allotments 
to be transferred on 1st April 
2022 as part of the creation 
of two new parish councils – 
Boyatt Wood Parish and 
Eastleigh Parish. 

Nicola Treeby /  
 

60



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

3 

Yes 

 
Corporate Complaints Policy  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

Asking that Cabinet approve 
the revised and updated 
Corporate Complaints and 
Compliments Policy  and 
Approves the Unreasonably 
Persistent Complainants and 
Unreasonable Customer 
Behaviour Policy. 

Louise O'Driscoll, 
Executive Head 
of Customer 
Care /  
 

Yes 

 
Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy 
(JMWMS)  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

An updated JMWMS that 
needs to be agreed by 
Cabinet. 

Gale Smith, 
Project Manager 
- Waste /  
 

Yes 

 
Response to Hampshire County 
Council consultation on 
application to extract gravel at 
former Hamble Airfield  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

This report seeks formal 
approval of the Council’s 
response to the HCC 
consultation as the planning 
authority in conjunction with 
the response agreed at BHH 
LAC on 3rd March. 

Diccon Bright, 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

 /  
 

61



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

4 

Yes 

 
Housing Acceleration Funding  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

Funding to accelerate the 
delivery of a development 
site by a small local 
developer. 

Andy Smith, 
Executive Head 
of Finance and 
Housing 
Programme 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/  
 

Yes 

 
Green Energy Development 
Projects  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

This report seeks Cabinet 
approval for capital funding, 
and support for associated 
projects and actions, for the 
long-term development of 
new renewable energy 
assets in the north of the 
Borough. 

Emily Howbrook, 
Strategy Led 
(Housing and 
Development) /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   24 Mar 2022   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

 /  
 

 
 
FOOTNOTES: 
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken. 
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Democratic Services Manager 
Publication Date: 02 March 2022 
 

62



Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel 
Work Plan 2021/22 
16 September 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Use of Agency Staff in Direct Services (T&F) Paul Naylor 

NWWW Dashboard Review Paul Naylor 

One Horton Heath – Update and Policy Development  Chris Payne 

14 October 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Use of Agency Staff in Direct Services (T&F) Paul Naylor 

NWWW Dashboard Review Paul Naylor 

One Horton Heath – Update and Policy Development Chris Payne 

Asset Transfer Policy Diccon Bright 

18 November 2021 
Topic Attendees 

biodiversity strategy delivery documents Paul Howe  

Performance Data, Q1&2 Exec heads  

6 December 2021 
Topic Attendees 

Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan update  Andy Brennan  

CAP Updates 

Cabinet progress against CAP items 

Diccon Bright 

Active Lifestyle Strategy (Early Engagement, T&F) Andrew Saunders  

 

13 January 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Emerging Culture Strategy Nicola Moore 

Tree Strategy Diccon Bright 

10 February 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Budget  Sarah King, Andy Smith 

Performance Data, Q3 CLB 

Corporate Action Plan  Diccon Bright 

63

Agenda Item 11



10 March 2022 
Topic Attendees 

Public Transport Operators (Bus and Rail) Cali Sparks, Cllr Airey and transport 

operators (TBC) 

Equalities Strategy Andrew Saunders 

SUDs SPD  Dawn Heppell 

Complaints Performance Louise O’Driscoll  

TBC Complaints Policy/Persistent Complainants Louise O’Driscoll and Jo Cassar 

 

New Democratic year 

23 June 2022 (potential items) 
 

Topic Attendees 

Public Art Strategy TBC 

Community Safety Partnership Annual Review Melvin Hartley 

Complaints Performance (if moved from March) Louise O’Driscoll 

  

  

  

 

Items Expected but not Scheduled 
Topic Suggested Month 

Hospital Consultation (External Consultation)  

Project resources/performance  

Tree Risk Management Plan  

  

  

  

 

 

64


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Equalities Strategy and Action Plan
	Appendix. 1 for Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 2022-2025
	Appendix. 2 for Equalities Strategy and Action Plan 2022-2025

	9 Complaints Policy
	ComplaintsPolicy App 1
	ComplaintsPolicy App 2

	10 Cabinet Forward Plan
	11 Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme

